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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512

       Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	TRACY J. BRANSTETTER, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

ARCTIC BUILDERS SOURCE, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

TWIN CITY FIRE INSURANCE 

COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	     FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

     AWCB Case No.  200415879
     AWCB Decision No.  07-0113

     Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

     on May 7, 2007


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”), permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) upon medical stability, medical benefits since August 4, 2005, vocational rehabilitation, interest and attorney’s fees and costs on April 5, 2007, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Michael J. Jensen represented the employee.   Attorney Michael Budzinski represented the employer and insurer (“Employer”).  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to TTD pursuant to AS 23.30.180, from August 4, 2005 until deemed medically stable?

2. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits under AS 23.30.095, from August 4, 2005, including reimbursement for medical expenses already paid and medical transportation costs? 

3. Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041?  

4. How should the credit for PPI previously paid to the employee be applied pursuant to AS 23.30.041(k)?

5. Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.190 based on a whole person impairment rating greater than 15%?

6. Is the employee entitled to interest on all past due benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142?

7. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees, paralegal fees and legal costs pursuant to 
AS 23.30.145?  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I.  History of the Case
The employee worked for the employer as a forklift operator and yardman.  He worked for the employer since June 24, 2003.  On September 1, 2004, he was loading roofing material on to a truck when he felt a pop in his neck and could not finish the loading.  The material he was lifting weighed over 100 pounds.  He was 39 years of age at the time of the injury.  He was off work from September 2, 2004 until September 22, 2004, when he returned to light duty.
  His light duty work involved no operator work, no overhead work and no lifting over 15 pounds.

The employee sought medical treatment from Douglas Savikko, D.O. He is the employee’s primary care physician.   The employee was prescribed physical therapy and prescription medication for his pain. The employee began physical therapy September 24, 2004.
  

Because of the employee’s continuing bilateral arm and neck pain, an MRI
 was performed on October 29, 2004.  It showed a central disc protrusion at C5-6, which caused a moderate compromise of the central canal.   Another protrusion was shown at C3-4.
  The employee was taken off work on November 4, 2004, and has not returned to work.  

On December 3, 2004, the employee was prescribed Methadone at 10 mg. per day, three times a day. The employee was referred to Louis Kralick, a neurosurgeon.  After seeing the employee, Dr. Kralick referred the employee to Leon Chandler, M.D., AA Pain Center, for an epidural cortisone injection trial.  Epidural steroid injections were performed on January 5 and 25, 2005.  The employee continued to see Dr. Chandler and Gary Child, D.O., for pain management treatment, including narcotic medications, oxycodone and methadone.  The employee’s methadone was increased to 40 mg. per day on January 31, 2005 and has remained at this level since that time.  

On February 5, 2005, the employee’s benefits were controverted by the employer for medical treatment except for treatment by Dr. Savikko and  surgery injections.
  The employer intended in the controversion that the employee should only see Dr. Savikko and not Drs. Kralick or Chandler.

On February 11, 2005, the employee was seen for an employer’s medical evaluation, or “EME,”

which was performed by Thomas Dietrich, M.D.
  He confirmed a central disc protrusion at C5-6 which was related to the September 1, 2004 work injury.
  He recommended surgery and found that the employee was not medically stable.
  

The employee underwent anterior cervical fusion surgery performed by Dr. Kralick on March 4, 2005.  The surgery consisted of C5-6 anterior diskectomy, osteophyte excision and instrumented anterior fusion using Cornerstone allograft and Premiere anterior instrumentation.  Unfortunately, the surgery did not help the employee’s condition and he became worse.  As Dr. Savikko put it, the employee turned out to require a “…cervical fusion that unfortunately turned out less than optimal.  He has been left with some fairly notable problems and very few choices with regard to his future.”
   

On April 19, 2005, the employee saw Dr. Kralick who opined that the employee could not yet be released to return to work.
  He noted numbness in both hands and fingers with limited range of motion.  He prescribed continued pain management and physical therapy.  Dr. Kralick recommended a release to return to work for four hours a day but the employee was unable to perform work to this degree.

On June 28, 2005, the employee was seen by Dr. Kralick who recommended continued physical therapy.  He did not recommend that the employee return to work.  He noted that the employee continued to see Dr. Child for pain management.  

On July 8, 2005, Dr. Dietrich performed another EME.  He indicated that the employee had formed a narcotic habituation.
  He did not believe additional surgery was needed nor physical therapy or any other treatment.  He did not believe the employee would be medically stable until he was off narcotics and that release to work would not be successful as long as the employee was on the current level of medication.
  

On July 25, 2005, an MRI
 was performed which showed the surgical changes including the anterior plate affixed by screws to the C5 and C6 levels and a bone graft within the C5-6 disc space.
  On July 26, 2005, Dr. Kralick recommended that the employee continue with pain management with Dr. Child at AA Pain Clinic.
  

Also on July 26, 2005, the employer controverted the employee’s medical treatment, including physical therapy, after July 26, 2005, except for narcotic medication withdrawal.
  This controversion was based on Dr. Dietrich’s July 8, 2005 report, in which he opined that no further medical treatment,  other than withdrawal of narcotic medication, would be helpful.

In August of 2005, the employee began receiving social security benefits and Medicare covered his medical expenses. 

On August 3, 2005, Dr. Child recommended that the methadone dose be continued at the 40 mg. level.  On August 4, 2005, the employee was discharged from physical therapy with directions for home exercise.

In Dr. Dietrich’s letter of August 4, 2005, he noted that there had been no objective improvement in the past 45 days and based on the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act’s definition of medical stability, he opined that the employee was medically stable.
  He recommended that the employee be tapered off medications in the next 30 days and gave him a 15% impairment rating.
  

The employer paid PPI to the employee in a lump sum on August 8, 2005.  The amount of the payment was $26,550.00.
  On August 9, 2005, the employer controverted TTD and TPD benefits based on Dr. Dietrich’s August 4, 2005 letter maintaining the employee was medically stable.
  

On September 23, 2005, a cervical MRI was performed.  It showed post surgical changes without stenosis or other significant abnormality.

On November 18, 2005, the employee requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.
  The RBA wrote back to the employee that the Board needed a medical statement indicating that the employee could not return to the job he held at the time of injury.
  The employee was informed that no further action would be taken on his request until the requested information was provided.

On January 5, 2006, a functional capacities evaluation was performed at the request of Dr. Childs. 

It demonstrated that the employee was not able to return to his previous line of work.  He was only able to meet a strength demand of sedentary and he was only able to carry 10 pounds occasionally.
 

On January 5, 2006, Dr. Child wrote to the RBA stating that the employee was still unable to work because of his injury.  On January 6, 2006, the RBA wrote to the employee indicating that Dr. Child’s statement did not indicate whether the employee’s restrictions were permanent and the eligibility evaluation could not go forward.
 

On January 11, 2006, the employer controverted additional reemployment benefits based on Dr. Dietrich’s July 8, 2005 EME report that maintained that the employee could go back to work.

In his March 15, 2006 letter regarding the employee’s condition, Dr. Savikko stated:

This is one of those rare cases where the patient, Mr. Branstetter, has fallen through most if not all of the medical and legal cracks in our current system.  Mr. Branstetter has been seen and treated most recently by Dr. Child at AA Pain Clinic, who refused to fill out this paper work because he did not want to become embroiled in a legal dispute between Mr. Branstetter and his workman’s comp. carrier.  Another sad reality that is becoming the rule rather than the exception.

Dr. Savikko testified at a March 23, 2007 deposition that the narcotics fail to adequately control the employee’s  pain and the skin on his hands represent a sympathetic dystrophy, which Dr. Savikko recommends be further evaluated.
  Dr. Savikko also recommends another MRI to assess the status of the employee’s cervical fusion and the reason for his continuing radiculopathies.

On March 21, 2006, Dr. Savikko wrote to the employee’s attorney indicating that the employee was medically stable although significantly disabled and that the employee would not be going back to his occupation as heavy equipment operator and that he required vocational rehabilitation.

On May 19, 2006, Dr. Savikko wrote that the employee continued to be totally disabled.
  Epidural steroid injections were attempted on June 22 and August 10, 2006.
  These injections were undertaken with the expectation that they would result in objective medical improvement.

The employee filed his claim for workers’ compensation benefits on June 14, 2006.
  It was amended January 7, 2007, to seek TTD from August 5, 2005 forward, medical and medical transportation costs, vocational rehabilitation, SIME, PPI, attorney fees and costs, interest and penalty.

On July 18, 2006, the employee’s benefits were again controverted and all medical benefits denied.
  The basis for the controversion was the absence of medical evidence supporting the claim.

On July 27, 2006, the employee saw Dr. Chandler.
  He noted that the employee said his pain was about the same and he was not getting a whole lot better.  He noted that things that made his pain worse were sitting, lifting, standing, bending, weather changes, physical activity, movement, sneezing and coughing.  On August 24, 2006, Dr. Chandler wrote that nothing had changed in the employee’s condition in the past six months.
   He stated that the employee suffered from chronic pain that was ongoing and needed medication for pain control.
  

On August 30, 2006, the employee saw Sean Taylor, M.D., for a disability consultation.
 He recommended retraining in a field with a strength demand of sedentary.  Dr. Taylor also felt the employee would need to be able to change position frequently, as prolonged sitting, standing and walking would exacerbate his pain complaints.
   

On August 31, 2006, the employee underwent a myelo CT scan of the cervical spine.
  It showed evidence of a prior anterior interbody fusion at the 5-6 level.  “The fusion appears to be satisfactory with incorporation of the dowel into opposing endplates and no extravasation is defined.”  The other cervical intervertebral disc spaces are normal.  There was reversal of the cervical lordosis, consistent with muscular spasm and no central or foraminal spinal stenosis.

On September 5, 2006, the employee again saw Dr. Chandler and Dr. Child, who referred him for a disability evaluation.

On November 11, 2006, the employee underwent another EME, which was performed by Thomas Williamson-Kirkland, M.D., a physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist.
 He diagnosed a C5-6 disk rupture, status post C5-6 anterior fusion and diskectomy, excessive narcotic use, very poor pain tolerance with excessive pain behavior and significant deconditioning.
 Dr. Williamson-Kirkland felt the employee was a “chronic pain patient.”    He felt the employee was not able to work until he got off narcotics.  He opined that “from a medical standpoint of having effective treatment and not being able to do better, he is not medically stable.”
 However, using the definition of medical stability under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, he determined the employee was medically stable as of August 4, 2005. He felt that the employee had not been appropriately or consistently treated and he was critical of the narcotic medications being prescribed.  He recommended that the employee change physicians and decrease his narcotic usage.
 He felt that if this was done, the employee could return to work if his neck was protected.  He agreed that the employee’s surgery had been appropriate and necessary as was his physical therapy.

On November 14, 2006, the employee was seen by Charles Brooks, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, for a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (“SIME”).
  He concluded that the employee’s neck and left upper extremity pain was attributable to the work injury.  He also opined that the employee’s sensory complaints were related to his work injury.
 He felt that the work injury worsened the C5-6 protrusion.
  He concluded that the employee’s symptoms were a substantial factor in motivating him to seek treatment after the September 1, 2004 injury.  This included the surgery and treatment before and after August 4, 2005. He stated that but for the September 2004 injury the employee would not have undergone the treatment he received.  Dr. Brooks opined that the injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce the employee’s need for medical treatment.  He also noted that the employee’s work and the repeated heavy lifting he engaged in “likely accelerated tearing of annular fibers.”
  He did not believe treatment provided by AA Pain Clinic beyond August 4, 2005 had been reasonable or necessary but he admitted that he did not prescribe narcotics for long term use and did not have patients with opiate dependence.
 He did not believe the MRI scans of September and December 2005, the myelogram CT scan of August 2006 and the epidural injections in June and August 2006 were reasonable and necessary medical care.
  He recommended treatment at a multidisciplinary pain clinic.
  Dr. Brooks felt that the employee should have reached medical stability by August 4, 2005, if he did not attend a multidisciplinary pain clinic.  Dr. Brooks also disagreed with Dr. Dietrich’s 15% whole person impairment rating.  Dr. Brooks recommended that the employee be considered in a category IV, based on his fusion, which he felt was a more accurate depiction of the employee’s condition for rating purposes.  The category IV rating constitutes a 25-28% whole person impairment rating.  Dr. Brooks’ opined a rating of 27% was more accurate, based on the employee’s symptoms and the impact of his condition on the activities of daily living.
  Dr. Brooks agreed that the employee could perform only sedentary work.
  

On December 8, 2006, Leslie Schofferman, M.D., performed another SIME.  She is a pain specialist.  She finds the employee was medically stable nine months after his surgery in December 2005.  Her assessment was that the employee was suffering from a failed neck surgery syndrome following the C5-6 anterior interbody fusion for C5-6 disc herniation.
  Dr. Schofferman agreed with Dr. Brooks and found that the category IV was appropriate for the employee’s fusion condition and that a 28% impairment rating was required due to the employee’s activities of daily living being markedly inhibited.
  Dr. Schofferman considered the employee to still need ongoing medical care.
  She is not convinced that the fusion is solid and fully incorporated in the adjacent intervertebratal plates.
  Her review of the MRI did not confirm “the sanctity of the C5-6 fusion and integrity of the fusion mass.”  She also noted that the August 31, 2006 myelo CT study did not confirm the incorporation of the interbody fusion into the adjacent end plates.
  Dr. Schofferman opined that there is a possible contribution of pain from the level adjacent to the fused level.
  As a pain specialist, she opined that the opiate management at this time for the employee is totally appropriate.
  She also recommended the use of a non-narcotic prescription Lyrica.  Dr. Schofferman stated:

I do believe that Mr. Branstetter has significant residual pain and restriction in his neck with residual spasm, with a marked functional loss, and he appears to be quite authentic in my clinical assessment.

Dr. Schofferman did not agree that the employee’s cervical pain arose from narcotic habituation and she noted that such a conclusion “cannot be supported by the clinical findings, or the medical  literature.”
  Dr. Schofferman concluded that the employee reached medical stability by December 4, 2005.
 She opined that the employee suffered from objective residual pain syndrome, which requires opiate management. She also opined that the employee’s medical treatment had been reasonable and necessary.

In January, 2007, the employee took further steps to proceed with his eligibility determination for reemployment benefits.  By letter dated January 31, 2007, the RBA Designee determined that the employee had unusual and extenuating circumstances for his late request for reemployment benefits.  The RBA Designee found that the employee had asked for an evaluation before he saw Dr. Taylor who informed him that he might be permanently precluded from returning to his job at the time of injury.

On February 15, 2007, the employee was advised by the RBA that a rehabilitation specialist had been assigned to complete his eligibility evaluation.

On March 23, 2007, Dr. Savikko gave his deposition testimony.
 Dr. Savikko still did not believe the employee was medically stable, having seen him on March 21, 2007.
  Dr. Savikko noted that with further treatment the employee had a reasonable expectation of objective medical improvement.  The epidural injections were administered in the hope that they could accomplish just such medical improvement.  He recommended another MRI to determine if bone spurring or spinal stenosis was occurring at the site of the fusion, which would account for the numbness in the employee’s extremities.
  He also noted the shinyness of the skin on the employee’s hands as a sympathetic dystrophy.
   He also recommended EMG studies be done to assess nerve pathology or damage.
Dr. Savikko also recommended EMG studies to identify nerve pathology or damage.
  Dr. Savikko opines that the employee’s being maintained at the same level of narcotic medication is evidence that the employee is not abusing the medication.
  Dr. Savikko disagrees with the medical stability definition as the basis for denying the employee benefits as he believes the employee still has subjective changes occurring and migratory pain patterns which indicate he is still healing and not medically stable.
  Dr. Savikko agreed with Dr. Taylor’s report.
  

II. EMPLOYEE WITNESSES

The employee testified at the hearing regarding his efforts to monitor his pain medication.  He takes as little as possible to maintain control of his pain.  At times, he is able to get by on less than the prescribed dosage.   The employee currently experiences pain in his neck, head, left calf and left hand, and his arms are numb.  His activity level has diminished since his injury.  He avoids driving because he cannot turn his head.  He has constant neck pain. He takes methadone and oxycodone because without the drugs, his pain level “goes through the roof.”  The employee testified that he receives Medicaid, which pays for some of his treatment, including MRI’s, but he must get approval for such treatment.  He saw Drs. Brooks and Schofferman who observed that the employee’s fusion is not solid and it is affecting adjacent levels of his neck.

The employee testified that in 2005, he asked for reemployment benefits.  However, he testified that he did not understand the RBA application process and thought he might be able to go back to work. At present, he feels he needs an EMG to be done and paid for by the employer and this has been recommended by Dr. Chandler.  The employee wants to get further treatment and to have another surgery to redo his fusion.  Dr. Chandler and AA Pain Clinic agree with the employee.  The employee believes that a second surgery, if it was successful, would allow him to get off the narcotic medications he is using.  The employee wants to be retrained following another surgery which he hopes will be successful.

Terry Shake, the employee’s girlfriend, testified on the employee’s behalf.  She recounted the employee’s limitations because of his work injury and his inability to help her with the children after his injury.  She noted his inability to sit for very long or to stand more than 20 minutes.
       

III.  POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

a. Employer

The employer claims that compensability of the claim is not in dispute.  The employer maintains that the employee was medically stable and not entitled to TTD after August 4, 2005.  The employer maintains there has been no change in the employee’s condition after September 2005. The employer also contends that the employee delayed seeking reemployment benefits   The employer objected to payment of any medical expenses after August 4, 2005, based on the employee’s need to engage in narcotic withdrawal as recommended by Dr. Dietrich. As to the employee’s narcotic medication usage, the employer cites three physicians, Dr. Williamson-Kirkland, Dr. Brooks and Dr. Dietrich, who say that the amount being prescribed in this case is excessive and does not constitute reasonable and necessary medical care.  Finally, the employer maintains that one of the issues in this case involves how to apply the PPI credit which extends over 87 weeks.   The employer also requests that the Board address how the employer’s credit for PPI benefits that were paid before the employee requested an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits should be applied under AS 23.30.041(k).  On the issue of the payout timeline, the employer suggests the PPI credit should start once the employee is deemed eligible for reemployment benefits, but with no 041(k) paid for 87 weeks thereafter.  The employer objects to having the credit begin when the employee asked for an eligibility evaluation claiming this is unfair to the employer where, as here, the employer contends the employee has not promptly and vigorously pursued his application for reemployment benefits.
  The employer requests a finding from the Board that the employee did not vigorously pursue reemployment benefits.  

          b.   Employee

The employee maintains that he has not attained pre-injury status.  The employee maintains that the he is entitled to a presumption of continuing compensability.
  The employee contends that he is entitled to reasonable and necessary medical care in the form of narcotic medications particularly where, as here, there is no abuse of medications shown.  The employee asks the Board to reject Dr. Dietrich’s recommendation that medications be disallowed after the employee’s surgery.  According to Dr. Schofferman, the employee is suffering from a failed fusion, which needs to be redone to reduce the employee’s ultimate need for narcotic drugs.  With respect to medical stability, the employee claims that he is not yet medically stable because, according to Dr. Savikko, the employee has the potential to improve his condition.  The employee maintains that the presumption of medical stability if there is no improvement after 45 days under AS 23.30.395(27), has been rebutted by clear and convincing evidence in this case based on the statements of Dr. Williamson-Kirkland, Drs. Chandler and Child, SIME physicians Brooks and Schofferman and Dr. Savikko.
  In support of this position, the employee cites McCarthy v. Ghemm Company, Inc.
  The employee has received a 27–28% PPI rating from Drs. Brooks and Schofferman, and, the employee asserts that this is the rating which should be adopted by the Board as it is a category IV rating applicable to the fusion and not the 15% rating performed by Dr. Dietrich, which the employer has paid. The employee also requested that the Board order a multidisciplinary pain clinic.  The employee maintains that all past medical expenses should be paid and Medicaid reimbursed for work related medical expenses.

The employee recommends that as to the payment timeline, the employee’s TTD be reclassified for the period from August 4, 2004 through December 4, 2005 at which time the employer can take its PPI credit which would extend through April 6, 2007.   Then PPI would be due from April 6, 2007 through December 11, 2008 based on the 28% PPI which would be paid out by December 11, 2008 when the employee would then be eligible for 041(k) benefits.  The employee objects to the employer’s recommended timeline as this would mean that the employee would be without benefits until December 2008, or for three years.

IV. Attorney Fees, Paralegal Fees and Legal Costs

The employee’s submitted affidavits of attorney fees, paralegal fees and legal costs.  The final affidavit was filed on April 6, 2007.  The employee claims attorney fees of $16,166.00 based on a rate of $295.00 per hour for 56 hours.  The paralegal hours claimed were at the rate of $125.00 per hour for 60 hours for a total of $7,487.50.  The legal costs were $1,855.74.

The employer claims that the proper rate of paralegal fees should be $105.00 per hour.
  The employer also maintains that the proper rate for attorney fees should be $250.00 per hour.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.  PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS
The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he or she seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

II.  COMPENSABILITY OF EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM
Applying the presumption analysis to the case at hand, the Board finds that the employee’s testimony and the reports of Dr. Savikko and Dr. Kralick are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer has produced substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability based on the reports of Dr. Dietrich which indicate that the employee reached medical stability as of August 4, 2005, that he needed no further medical treatment, including physical therapy and surgery, and that he had a PPI impairment of 15% and that he would not be medically stable until he was off narcotic medications.

At the third stage of the analysis, the Board finds that the employee has established the compensability of his injuries and his claim for benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  This finding is based on the reports of Drs. Savikko and Child.  The Board relies on the reports of these physicians who have been involved with the employee’s treatment and who have seen him on many occasions.  The Board also relies on the report of the SIME physician Dr. Brooks to establish that the employee’s neck and left upper extremity pain are work related, as well as his sensory complaints. Additionally, the Board relies on the SIME report of Dr. Schofferman to show that the employee has pain due to cervical etiology and that his neck condition is attributable to the injury of September 1, 2004.  She also indicates that the employee needs further surgery because of the prior failed fusion and that the current course of opiate management is appropriate.
  Based on the employee’s doctor statements and the SIME reports, the Board finds the employee has established that his claim is compensable. 

The Board did not rely upon Dr. Dietrich’s opinions as we did not find he fully considered the causes of the employee’s ongoing symptomatology.  Based on consideration of the entire medical record in this case, we find Dr. Dietrich’s opinion fails to fully consider the employee’s underlying medical condition.

II.   MEDICAL BENEFITS AND MEDICAL TRANSPORTATION COSTS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

8 AAC 45.084 addresses medical transportation costs.  It states:

(a) This section applies to expenses to be paid by the employer to an employee who is receiving or has received medical treatment. 

(b) Transportation expenses include 

(1) a mileage rate, for the use of a private automobile, equal to the rate the state reimburses its supervisory employees for travel on the given date if the usage is reasonably related to the medical examination or treatment; 

(2) the actual fare for public transportation if reasonably incident to the medical examination or treatment; and 

(3) ambulance service or other special means of transportation if substantiated by competent medical evidence or by agreement of the parties. 

(c) It is the responsibility of the employee to use the most reasonable and efficient means of transportation under the circumstances. If the employer demonstrates at a hearing that the employee failed to use the most reasonable and efficient means of transportation under the circumstances, the board may direct the employer to pay the more reasonable rate rather than the actual rate. 

(d) Transportation expenses, in the form of reimbursement for mileage, which are incurred in the course of treatment or examination are payable when 100 miles or more have accumulated, or upon completion of medical care, whichever occurs first. 

(e) A reasonable amount for meals and lodging purchased when obtaining necessary medical treatment must be paid by the employer if substantiated by receipts submitted by the employee. Reimbursable expenses may not exceed the per diem amount paid by the state to its supervisory employees while traveling. 

The statutory presumption of compensability at AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits and related transportation costs.
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under subsection AS 23.30.095(a).
    In Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held the employee may rely on the recommendations of his treating doctor, within the first two years following an injury, unless the employer has carried the “heavy burden” of demonstrating the treatment is unreasonable and/or unnecessary and/or outside the scope of accepted medical practice.

The presumption of compensability is raised for medical and medical related treatment after August 4, 2005, by the employee’s description of his condition and Dr. Savikko’s reports along with those of Dr. Child and Dr. Chandler showing the need for and provision of continuing treatment for the employee’s condition.  Dr. Schofferman indicates the employee’s current treatment of pain through narcotics is reasonable and necessary.  In addition, she opines the employee’s neck fusion is not stable and therefore, additional diagnostic tests are required and possible corrective surgery are reasonable and necessary.  The Board finds that the presumption is raised as to the compensability of the employee’s current medical treatment.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer’s physician Dr. Dietrich indicated in his July 8, 2005 report that no additional treatment, surgery or physical therapy was needed and, in his August 4, 2005 letter, that based on no objective improvement in the employee’s condition, the was medically stable.  The Board finds that this is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability as to the need for medical treatment.

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the Board finds that the employee has established by a preponderance of the evidence that he has a need for reasonable and necessary medical treatment pursuant to AS 23.30.095 from August 4, 2005 forward.  The Board finds that further evaluation of the employee’s neck condition is required as per the March 15, 2006 recommendation of Dr. Savikko and the SIME report of Dr. Schofferman.  The Board finds that such treatment is reasonable and necessary in order to maximize the employee’s recovery potential and to assure that if another fusion is required, it be done so that ultimately the employee can reach the maximum level of improvement  and to reduce his dependence on narcotic medications.  

The Board further finds that the use of narcotic medications is reasonable and necessary medical care based on the SIME report of Dr. Schofferman and the reports of Drs Chandler and Child.  The Board further finds that given the level of pain the employee has experienced, he will require narcotic medications unless and until his cervical fusion is addressed and successfully resolved. The Board agrees with the statement of Dr. Williamson-Kirkland that the employee had not been appropriately or consistently treated.
  We find this has occurred based, in part, upon a premature controversion issued in reliance on Dr. Dietrich’s opinion which the Board finds is flawed.  Dr. Brooks opined that the work injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce the employee’s need for medical treatment.  He also opined that the employee’s work including heavy lifting likely accelerated tearing of annular fibers, as well as causing a permanent change to C 5-6.   The Board agrees with Dr. Brooks conclusions regarding the damage caused by the work injury and also with Dr. Brooks’ recommendation that the possibility of a multidisciplinary pain clinic be explored.  The Board finds that based on the physicians who have treated the employee, including Drs. Savikko, Child and Chandler, that narcotic medication usage is probably required.   Further, we find the MRI and EMG studies are reasonable and necessary to determine the current condition of the employee’s cervical fusion and whether a second surgery to address the fusion problem need be performed.  The Board agrees with many of the physicians who express concern over the employee’s lengthy use of narcotic medications. However, we rely on the SIME report of Dr. Schofferman, an expert in pain medication, who observes that the opiate management in this case is totally appropriate.
  For this reason, we recommend that the employee and his physicians fully explore reduction of narcotic usage once the fusion problem is addressed, which will hopefully reduce the employee’s need for and reliance on narcotics.

The Board rejects the reports of Dr. Dietrich and his recommendations that no further treatment is required.  The Board further finds that based on the reports of Drs. Savikko, Chandler, Child Brooks and Schofferman, the employee needs to have another MRI, EMG studies, a multicisciplinary pain clinic and probably another fusion to reach maximum medical stability and to then be able to taper off narcotic usage.  The Board finds that the employee is credible when he articulates his desire to get off narcotic medication.  The Board further believes that unless and until the employee’s current fusion is addressed, the employee will continue to require narcotics and other treatment to maintain the status quo.  The Board finds that the only real improvement that the employee can expect will be a second surgery to hopefully repair the current fusion and thereby lead the employee to a successful recovery and diminution of use of narcotic medications.  The Board believes that with the array of medical expertise at the employer’s disposal, the employee’s fusion problem should have been addressed long ago in order to avoid just what the employer complains of now, i.e. the employee’s continued use of narcotic medications for his cervical condition and radioculopathies.   Unless and until the employee receives the medical treatment he needs, he cannot realistically be expected to reduce his reliance on narcotic medications.  The Board accepts the employee’s representation that when his neck condition is successfully addressed, he definitely will do just what the employer desires and that is reduce and hopefully eliminate reliance on narcotic medications.  The Board also relies on the SIME report of Dr. Schofferman, a pain specialist, who finds that the employee’s opiate management is totally appropriate.
  Based on the reports cited above, the Board finds that the employee has received reasonable and necessary medical care from August 4, 2005 forward and that the employee is entitled to reimbursement for such care and/or his providers are entitled to payment for the care provided, including narcotic medications and maintenance, pursuant to AS 23.30.095.  The Board shall order that all past medical care, including medical transportation costs, shall be paid by the employer.  We shall also order that the employee is entitled to continuing medical benefits, to include, but not be limited to additional cervical MRI and EMG studies and surgery.  The Board also orders the employer to reimburse Medicaid for the employee’s medical expenses related to his work injury incurred after August 2005.
III.  TTD BENEFITS
AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Act’s definition of medical stability is set out at AS 23.30.395(27).  It states:

(27) "medical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence…

The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  

Applying the presumption analysis to the issues of the employee’s entitlement to TTD after August 4, 2005, the Board finds that based on the medical statements of Dr. Savikko and Child that the employee was still not medically stable as of August 4, 2005.

The employer stopped paying TTD as of August 4, 2005, based on the controversion which relied on Dr. Dietrich’s August 4, 2005 letter.  At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the August 4, 2005 letter of Dr. Dietrich and Dr. Brooks’ report finding the employee reached medical stability as of August 4, 2005, constitute substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of eligibility for TTD after August 4, 2005.
At the third stage of the presumption analysis of the employee’s need for TTD benefits after August 4, 2006, the employee is required to prove the elements of his claim for TTD after August 4, 2006 by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board finds that the employee was found to not be medically stable in the Williamson-Kirkland EME done November 6, 2006.  The Board also finds that the employee continued to receive medical treatment after August 4, 2005, in hopes of improving his condition.  Dr. Savikko noted that with further treatment the employee had a reasonable expectation of objective medical improvement.  Even Dr. Brooks’ statement of medical stability as of August 4, 2006, was conditioned on the employee’s participation in a multidisciplinary pain clinic.  The Board finds that based on the report of Dr. Schofferman, the employee needs another fusion and, until the surgery is done, the employee has reached medical stability as of December 4, 2005.  This date is the date Dr. Schofferman found the employee had reached medial stability which was nine months after his fusion surgery.

Based on these facts the Board finds that the employee has established eligibility for continued TTD by clear and convincing evidence under AS 23.30.095(27). The Board further relies on the report of Dr. Schofferman who finds that the employee was medically stable as of December 4, 2005, which was nine months after the fusion.  Under these circumstances, under AS 23.30.185, the Board finds the employee is entitled to TTD from August 4, 2005 through December 4, 2005. 

V.  EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM FOR PPI  BENEFITS

AS 23.30.190 addresses compensation for permanent partial impairment. Subsection (a) states, in part:  

In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.

The employee seeks PPI benefits.  His testimony regarding his ability to perform activities of daily living and the 27% impairment rating of Dr. Brooks based on a category VI associated with the employee’s fusion are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability as to the employee’s entitlement to PPI benefits. 
At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the Board finds that the reports of Dr. Dietrich including the report finding that he is in a category III 15% impairment rating, is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability and the PPI rating.

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the employee must show he is entitled to the claimed impairment rating by a preponderance of the evidence.  At this stage, the Board weights the medical evidence.  The Board concludes that the PPI rating of Dr. Dietrich should be rejected as not truly representative of the degree of the employee’s impairment.  The Board finds Dr. Dietrich rated the employee without consideration of the employee’s true residual condition.  We find his failure was based upon his misperception that the employee’s chronic pain was related to “narcotic habituation.”  The Board relies on Dr. Schofferman who agreed with Dr. Brooks and found that the category IV was appropriate for the employee’s fusion condition and that a 28% impairment rating was required due to the employee’s activities of daily living being markedly inhibited.
  The Board finds Dr. Schofferman has fully considered not only the employee’s failed cervical fusion, but also his resulting chronic pain.  The Board concludes that the employee is entitled to a PPI rating of 28 % pursuant to AS 23.30.190.

VI. REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The employee claimed reemployment benefits.  The RBA found the employee eligible for a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation.  

The employer requests that the Board determine how the employer’s credit for PPI benefits paid in a lump sum before the employee requested an eligibility evaluation should be applied under 
AS 23.30.041(k).

AS 23.30.041(k) provides:

(k) Benefits related to the reemployment plan may not extend past two years from date of plan approval or acceptance, whichever date occurs first, at which time the benefits expire. If an employee reaches medical stability before completion of the plan, temporary total disability benefits shall cease and permanent impairment benefits shall then be paid at the employee's temporary total disability rate. If the employee's permanent impairment benefits are exhausted before the completion or termination of the reemployment plan, the employer shall provide compensation equal to 70 percent of the employee's spendable weekly wages, but not to exceed 105 percent of the average weekly wage, until the completion or termination of the plan, except that any compensation paid under this subsection is reduced by wages earned by the employee while participating in the plan to the extent that the wages earned, when combined with the compensation paid under this subsection, exceed the employee's temporary total disability rate. If permanent partial disability benefits have been paid in a lump sum before the employee requested or was found eligible for reemployment benefits, payment of benefits under this subsection is suspended until permanent partial disability benefits would have ceased, had those benefits been paid at the employee's temporary total disability rate, notwithstanding the provisions of AS 23.30.155 (j). A permanent impairment benefit remaining unpaid upon the completion or termination of the plan shall be paid to the employee in a single lump sum. An employee may not be considered permanently totally disabled so long as the employee is involved in the rehabilitation process under this chapter. The fees of the rehabilitation specialist or rehabilitation professional shall be paid by the employer and may not be included in determining the cost of the reemployment plan.

The employer claims that the $26,550.00 in PPI which the employee was paid in August 2005 would have extended over 87 weeks had they been paid periodically.  The employer argues that the credit should begin once the employee is found eligible for reemployment benefits.  The employer objects to having the credit begin when the employee asked for an eligibility evaluation as this is unfair to the employer where, as here, the employer contends the employee has not promptly and vigorously pursued his application for reemployment benefits.

The employee maintains that the PPI credit is correctly applied from December 4, 2005 through April 6, 2007.  Further, the employee asserts that the additional PPI based on the 28% rating, when paid under AS 23.30.041(k), is payable through December 11, 2008, on a biweekly basis.

The Board finds that the record is incomplete as to the correct law which is applicable to the employee’s situation.  AS 23.30.041(k) as it existed before November 2005,  may not have allowed a credit for PPI.  However, as this was not cited in argument presented at hearing, the Board requests that the parties submit a memorandum as to the applicable law so that the Board may render a decision on this issue.  The memorandum will be due 30 days after the date of issuance of this order.
VII.  INTEREST
AS 23.30.155(p) provides:

(p) An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in 
AS 09.30.070 (a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.
8 AAC 45.142   governing the payment of interest, states, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest…(3) on late-paid medical benefits to (A) the employee…, if the employee has paid the provider or medical benefits;…(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

The Board’s regulation, 8 AAC 45.142, requires that if compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at a statutory rate from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.

We find that there were late payments for the employee’s medical care as well as TTD.  We find the employee and/or his providers are due interest on these late paid amounts. Interest under 8 AAC 45.142 must be factored into the calculation of benefits payable to the employee and/or his providers.

Under the circumstances, the Board finds the employee and his providers are entitled to interest on late paid benefits.

VIII.  PENALTIES

AS 23.30.155(e) provides:

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.
The Board finds that the employee has not listed penalties as an issue to be addressed in the employee brief.  However, it was listed as an issue in the prehearing conference summary.  The Board finds that the employer justifiably relied on the reports of Dr. Dietrich. Further, the Board finds there has been no prior award which the employer failed to pay.  Under these circumstances, the employee is not entitled to penalties.
IX.  AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND LEGAL COSTS
AS 23.30.260 provides, in part:

Penalty for receiving unapproved fees and soliciting. A person is guilty of a misdemeanor . . . if the person (1) receives a fee, other consideration, or a gratuity on account of services rendered in respect to a claim, unless the consideration or gratuity is approved by the board or court . . . .

AS 23.30.145(b) provides:

If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Under AS 23.30.260, the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with our approval.  We find the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee was resisted by the action of the employer.
   The Board finds that the employer has challenged the employee’s entitlement to TTD after August 4, 2005, the amount of PPI to which he is entitled, the date on which any credit for PPI should begin, the employee’s entitlement to medical benefits and medical transportation costs, interest, penalties, and attorney fees, paralegal fees and costs.  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee and legal costs under subsection AS 23.30.145.  The Board finds that the employee prevails on all his claims. Consequently, we can award fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b).
  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney fees and costs to be reasonable.  The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell
 held that our attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  We consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for the successful prosecution of a claim.
    

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee filed a final affidavit of attorney fees, itemizing 56.0 hours of attorney time at $295.00 per hour, totaling $16,166.00 in attorney fees.  The employee also claims 60 paralegal hours billed at the rate of $125.00 per hour for $7,487.50 in paralegal expenses.  The employee claims legal costs totaling $1,855.74.  We find the employee’s attorney has considerable experience in Alaska Workers’ Compensation Law. Further, we found the employee’s attorney’s brief and presentation were exceptional in this case and of great assistance to the Board.  Therefore, under the circumstances of this case, we find $295.00 per hour is a reasonable fee and that $125.00 per hour for paralegal services is reasonable.  The Board finds the employer resisted the employee’s claim for numerous benefits, and that the employee’s attorney successfully obtained these benefits for the employee as well as penalties and interest.  The Board finds these benefits to be very valuable to the employee.  The employee’s counsel’s successful prosecution of this case also has opened up the possibility that the employee’s fusion may be revisited, which may allow him the possibility of improvement in his medical condition.
Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the nature of the benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find that an award of attorney fees, paralegal fees and legal costs reasonable for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits from August 4, 2005 forward, including TTD, PPI, payment of past medical expenses, penalties and interest and a determination as to how the PPI lump sum should be applied if the employee is found eligible for reemployment benefits. We find that the hours expended by counsel and his paralegal are reasonable.  The matter was tenaciously litigated by skilled counsel.  The employer resisted payment of benefits for a year and a half before the issuance of this decision and order.  The employee obtained significant benefits as a result of counsel’s efforts on his behalf.  The Board shall award a total of $16,166.00 as reasonable attorney fees, paralegal costs of $7,487.50, and costs of $1,855.74, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.


ORDER
1. The employee is entitled to TTD from August 4, 2005 to December 4, 2005, pursuant to 
AS 23.30.185.

2. The employee is entitled to medical benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.095 from August 4, 2005 forward including reimbursement for previously paid, out of pocket, medical expenses and medical expenses related to the September 1, 2004 injury paid by Medicaid.  

3. Cervical MRI and EMG studies be done as recommended by Drs. Savikko and Schofferman to determine if further treatment of the employee’s neck condition are compensable.  

4. The Board also orders the employee to participate in a multidisciplinary pain clinic when deemed appropriate by his providers.

5. The employee is entitled to reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041. 

6. The employee is entitled to PPI benefits based on a whole person impairment rating of  28% pursuant to AS 23.30.190.

7.   The Board finds that the record is incomplete as to the correct law which is applicable to the employee’s situation.  AS 23.30.041(k) as it existed before November 2005,  may not have allowed a credit for PPI.  However, as this was not cited in argument presented at hearing, the Board requests that the parties submit a memorandum as to the applicable law so that the Board may render a decision on this issue.  The memorandum will be due 30 days after the date of issuance of this order.
8. The employee and/or his providers are not entitled to penalties on late paid benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.155.

9. The employee and/or his providers are entitled to interest on all past due benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142.  This includes interest on medical benefits.

10. The employee is entitled to attorney fees of $16,166.00, paralegal costs of $7,487.50 and costs of $1,855.74, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska, on May 7, 2007.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127
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RECONSIDERATION
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MODIFICATION
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